
 

 

Task and Finish Group on the future outlook for the 
media in Wales 

 

Meeting Venue: 
Committee Room 2 - Senedd 

 

 

 

Meeting date: 
7 December 2011  

 

Meeting time: 
11:00 

 

For further information please contact:  

Marc Wyn Jones 
Committee Clerk 
029 2089 8505 
CELG.committee@wales.gov.uk  

  

 

Agenda 
 

 

1. Introductions, apologies and substitutions   

2. Inquiry into the future outlook for the media in Wales (11.00 - 
11.30) (Pages 1 - 4)  
Media(4)-05-11 : Paper 1 
 
Edwina Hart AM, Minister for Business, Enterprise, Technology and Science 
Natasha Hale, Head of Creative Industries BETS 
Ron Jones, Executive Chairman of Tinopolis PLC  

3. Papers to Note   

 
Media(4)-05-11 : Paper 2  (Pages 5 - 8) 
 
Correspondence from the Chair of the Task and Finish Group on the future outlook for the media in Wales to 

Media Wales 

 
 
 
 

Media(4)-05-11 : Paper 3  (Pages 9 - 12) 
 
Correspondence from Media Wales to the Chair of the Task and Finish Group on the future outlook for the 

media in Wales 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

 
 
 



Media(4)-05-11 : Paper 1 
 
 

Communities, Equality & Local Government Committee (CELG) 
Task and Finish Group on the future of the Media in Wales 

 
Evidence paper submitted by Minister for Business, Enterprise 
Technology and Science 
 
Date:  7 December 2011 
 
Time:  11.00 -11.30 am   
 
Title:  The Role of the Media in the Creative Industries and the 

Contribution of the Media Sector to the Economy in Wales  
 

 

Introduction 

 
I have been invited to discuss with you my views on the role of the media in 
the creative industries and the contribution of the media sector to the 
economy of Wales.  
 
1. The Creative Industries in Wales 
 
The creative industries sector has been identified as a priority sector by the 
Department of Business, Enterprise, Technology and Science (BETS).  The 
Welsh Government defines the sector as “those industries which have their 
origin in individual creativity, skill and talent and which have a potential for 
wealth and job creation through the generation and exploitation of intellectual 
property.”   
 
The sector consists of a number of sub-sectors, which interact closely with 
each other and have significance not just to the economy of Wales but also to 
its social and cultural life.   
 
My department prioritises the creative industries on account of their existing 
size in Wales, their important role in the digital economy, and their recent 
growth and potential for future growth, particularly within the digital media 
industries. 
 
In February 2011, the Welsh Government published a statistical analysis of 
economic data relating to each of the sectors prioritised within the Economic 
Renewal Programme (ERP).  This analysis demonstrated that the creative 
industries sector employed more than 30,000 people and generated over £1.8 
billion annual turnover in Wales in 2009.  Turnover in the Welsh creative 
industries sector grew by 23% between 2005 and 2009, making it one of the 
fastest growing sectors in Wales. 
 
 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



 
2. The Role and Contribution of the Media Sector in Wales 
 
The “media” sector cuts across a number of creative industries sub-sectors, 
particularly TV and Radio, Publishing, Film and Digital Media.  It has made an 
important contribution to our economy and has widened the skills base for the 
creative industries. 
 
Based upon ERP statistics for 2009, these subsectors between them 
comprise around 730 businesses in Wales, including broadcasters, 
generating over £500m turnover annually and employing around 6,000 
people.  When taking into account freelancers and small or early-stage micro-
businesses that are not captured by the ERP methodology, it is likely that the 
economic significance of the sector is greater still.  
 
I am aware of the challenges facing the media sector in Wales and the impact 
these are having across the sector, from private business such as 
newspapers and TV production companies, to the larger public service 
broadcasters. In addition to the well-publicised funding cuts at BBC Wales 
and S4C, and the substantial job losses that have regrettably resulted there, I 
am concerned about the consequential impact that these cuts are already 
having on the independent production sector in Wales.  I am also aware of the 
considerable challenges that the publishing industries are facing and the 
effects of these on businesses and workforce in the Welsh print media. 
 
 
3. The Priorities From A Welsh Perspective 
 
The challenge for my department is to help support and safeguard businesses 
and jobs within the traditional media, while at the same time helping new and 
existing businesses to adapt and respond to the commercial opportunities 
offered by new media business models, new technologies and new markets.   
 
To this end a dedicated creative industries team and a sector panel chaired 
by Ron Jones, Executive Chairman of Tinopolis PLC have been established, 
to advise on the policies and strategies that the department should prioritise 
when developing and implementing sector support.   
 
The panel has recommended some clear strategic priorities that will lead the 
work of my department going forward across all creative industries 
subsectors, including media. It is intended that these priorities will help to set 
the strategic direction for Welsh Government provision alongside the ongoing 
implementation of the recommendations made in Professor Ian Hargreaves’ 
Report, “The Heart of Digital Wales: A Review of the Creative Industries for 
the Welsh Assembly Government.” These priorities are: 
 

1. To focus resources on those creative businesses in Wales who sell or 
licence products and services to markets outside Wales. 

 

Page 2



2. To ensure that training and education relevant to the creative industries 
are aligned to the needs of business and the digital economy. 

 
3. To use Government influence to lever in the maximum European and 

UK support available for the creative sector in Wales, while ensuring 
that projects in receipt of funds are of high quality and aligned with 
strategic priorities. 

 
4. To accelerate the growth of digital media businesses in Wales. 

 
5. To maximise the impact that public sector procurement has on the 

creative industries in Wales. 
 

6. To ensure Wales’ Public Service Broadcasters organise their affairs to 
provide the maximum economic advantages to Wales that can be 
practically achieved. 

 
7. To monitor economic activity in the sector in Wales in order to enable 

policy to adjust in a rapidly changing environment.  
 
Through the advice offered by the sector panel and the creative team my 
department now has the right mechanisms in place to support the sector 
appropriately.   
 
 
4. What the Welsh Government is Doing  
 
The current activities of my department to support the media sector include: 
 

1. Providing financial support to Welsh production companies to produce 
programming for network commissions and international co-
productions. 

 
2. Piloting a brand new Digital Development Fund aimed specifically at 

supporting businesses within the media, and wider creative sector, to 
exploit their creative ideas through digital platforms and in international 
markets.  

 
3. Seeking to leverage the maximum economic value from the public 

service broadcasters, by working with them to increase their levels of 
network commissioning from Welsh companies and their wider 
economic contribution to Wales, and by undertaking research and 
analysis to inform future policy and strategy development by 
Government, BBC, S4C and other broadcasters.  

 
4. Carrying out a full analysis of public sector procurement of media 

services throughout Wales and examining ways in which we can assist 
Welsh media companies to gain a greater proportion of the contracts 
on offer. 

 

Page 3



5. Consulting with leading companies in the digital media industries in 
Wales, to identify the factors that influence growth and develop 
appropriate mechanisms to support these industries. 

 
6. Commissioning further research to map the creative industries in 

Wales, including more detailed analysis of freelance activity and micro-
businesses that are not fully represented in existing ERP statistics. 

 
7. Continuing to work on building a strong and economically-focused 

Wales Location Service (Wales Screen Commission) that can support 
inwardly-investing TV and film productions and will also assist locally-
based businesses and freelancers to access new opportunities. 

Page 4



 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg / We welcome correspondence in both English and Welsh 
Pwyllgor Cymunedau, Cydraddoldeb a Llywodraeth Leol / Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee 

Gwasanaeth y Pwyllgorau / Committee Service 
Ffôn / Tel : 029 2089 8429 

Ebost / Email : Communities.Equality&LocalGov@wales.gov.uk  
 

 

Media(4)-05-11 : Paper 2 
 

Pwyllgor Cymunedau, Cydraddoldeb a 
Llywodraeth Leol 
 
Communities, Equality and Local Government 
Committee 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Alan Edmunds 
Managing Director 
Media Wales 
Six Park Street, 
Cardiff  
CF10 1XR. 

 
Bae Caerdydd / Cardiff Bay 

 Caerdydd / Cardiff 
CF99 1NA 

                   
                                            

                21 November 2011 
 
 
 
 
Dear Alan 
 
Task and Finish Group on the media in Wales 
 
Thank you for agreeing to attend the inquiry meeting on 1 December to give oral 
evidence on behalf of Media Wales and Trinity Mirror. 
 
In its meeting on 17 November the Task and Finish Group agreed that I should 
write to you to seek clarification on a number of points in advance of your 
attendance. 
 
Members of the Task and Finish Group have provided a number of questions, and I 
would be grateful if you would provide us, via the Clerk, with written answers to 
the following questions by 29 November. 
 
1. According to Dr Andy Williams' projection, if the circulation decline of the 

Western Mail continues at the current rate, no-one will be left buying the paper in 

10 years’ time. Do you accept this projection as accurate? 

 

2. How much longer, in your view, will the Western Mail be published as a daily 

paper? 

 

3. When the NUJ referred to speculation that the Western Mail could be turned 

into a weekly paper, a statement from Trinity Mirror said there were no plans to 

make such a change. Under what circumstances could such a change take place? 

Agenda Item 3a

Page 5



 

 2

How low would the Western Mail's circulation have to fall before such a change was 

considered? 

 

4. What plans, if any, does Trinity Mirror have to halt circulation decline in its 

Media Wales titles? 

 

5. Does the Trinity Mirror board accept the argument that having a national 

daily newspaper is an essential requirement of Welsh democracy? 

 

6. On November 17, following the announcement of job cuts and title closures 

at Birmingham, Trinity Mirror said it had offered the relevant titles for sale before 

making the closure announcement. Does this indicate a change of policy by the 

group, which has previously refused to offer titles it intends to close for sale? 

 

7. Are you able to give a guarantee on behalf of Trinity Mirror that Media Wales 

titles would be offered for sale if at any future stage there was a plan to close them 

or, for example, to turn the Western Mail into a weekly – and that a reasonable 

period of time would be allowed before such a plan would be implemented? 

 

8. How have redundancies in the newspaper sales and marketing departments 

affected the company's ability to maximise circulation? 

 

9. The Western Mail styles itself the national newspaper of Wales. Yet there are 

parts of Wales where it is not easy to buy the paper. Why is that the case? Does 

Trinity Mirror have a policy of not wanting to promote the Western Mail in North 

Wales in order to protect the Daily Post? 

 

10. The NUJ has told us that since 1999, Trinity Mirror has had more than £161m 

in pre-tax profits from Media Wales. What has happened to the money, and how 

much of it has been invested in Wales? How does Trinity Mirror justify the very high 

profit margins nudging 40% enjoyed at Media Wales until quite recently? Was it 

irresponsible to achieve such results through cuts in editorial and other staff? 

 

11. The NUJ and Dr Andy Williams were very critical of Sly Bailey's level of 

remuneration – last year it was more than £1.7m – describing it as obscene and a 

reward for failure. Given the performance of the group in terms of circulation, 

revenue, numbers employed and share price since she became chief executive, do 

you agree that they have a point? 

 

12. Does Trinity Mirror accept that it was a serious strategic error to give away 

virtually the entire contents of its newspapers free online? Other newspapers do not 

publish virtually all their content free online and there appears to be evidence that 

circulation decline is less as a result. Does Trinity Mirror have any plans to change 

policies in this respect, and if not, why not? 

 

Page 6



 

 3

13. Shortly after Sly Bailey took over as chief executive, she said the aim was to 

have 20% of advertising revenue from digital within a short space of time. Why has 

that ambition not been realised? 

 

14. Why is the circulation decline of the Western Mail so much more marked than 

that of the Daily Post? 

 

15. What were the factors that led to the editorial redundancies at Media Wales 

announced in July 2011? 

 

16. What was the difference between the company's expected and actual 

revenues in the first six months of 2011? 

 

17. In the spring of this year, Trinity Mirror announced its intention to make 

£25m in savings this year. What was the level of savings sought by Trinity Mirror 

from Media Wales? What degree of leeway was Media Wales given in terms of the 

level of cuts to be made? How did you decide where to impose the cuts? 

 

18. From past experience, it is quite likely that Trinity Mirror will announce its 

intention to make further savings of a similar magnitude next spring. What cuts 

would you envisage making at that time? The NUJ has suggested that further cuts 

would be likely to entail title closures. Do you agree? 

 

19. Given declining circulation and the recent cut in the number of journalists 

working in the Celtics' (weekly papers) district offices, how do you see the titles' 

short to medium term future? 

 

20. Do you accept that closing down local newspaper offices has a negative 

impact on circulation – and that the closure of offices in Neath, Aberdare and Ebbw 

Vale had such an impact? 

 

21. When you gave evidence to an earlier Assembly inquiry in 2009, you said 

space would be taken for “reporters' surgeries” in towns where offices had been 

shut. Has this happened, and if not, why not? 

 

22. Do you believe 10 journalists, now reduced to nine, five of them trainees, can 

adequately cover the geographically distinct areas which represent the seven Celtic 

weeklies? If so, what commitment can you give to minimum levels of coverage of 

courts, crime and local government, the traditional cornerstones of good weekly 

papers? How are those areas - and others - meant to be covered properly when 

half the available staff are trainees and some (if not all) of them live in Cardiff? How 

much time is made available for journalists in the Valleys to get out and about, 

discover their patch and get to know and make proper local contacts?  

 

Page 7



 

 4

23. Do you agree that generic copy shared across several titles ultimately 

contributes to killing the identity of individual papers and aggravates further the 

issue of declining circulation? 

 

24. Given the higher than average number of Valleys homes without an internet 

connection, if weekly titles are closed, is there not an increased danger of people 

becoming disenfranchised through a lack of distinct local news about their area? 

Also, given the readership demographics of Media Wales' titles, if older readers 

abandon the papers, is it not highly unlikely that they would be replaced by 

younger ones? 

 

25. Are Trinity Mirror's policies in Wales contributing towards a growing 

democratic deficit and how does that square with the group's alleged commitment 

to the communities its papers serve? Who should be held to account for Trinity 

Mirror's actions in Wales since 2003? 

 

26. Do you agree with the view that Trinity Mirror's business model (particularly 

in relation to its Welsh titles) is no longer fit for purpose? What, apart from more 

cuts, does Trinity Mirror's future business strategy consist of? What policies for 

growth does it have? 

 

27. Given that Media Wales submitted a bid for National Assembly money to 

produce a Welsh language news website, the company is presumably not averse to 

the idea of accepting public funds for news provision. Can you envisage a future in 

which newspapers like the Western Mail could only survive with some form of 

public subsidy? 

We look forward to receiving your responses, and hope that this information will 
inform a productive evidence session. 
 
Please do not hesitate to contact the Clerk of the Committee, Marc Jones (029 20 
898505), should you have any further queries. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
 
Ken Skates AM 
Chair, Task and Finish Group on the future of the media in Wales 
 

Page 8



Media(4)-05-11 : Paper 3 Agenda Item 3b

Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12


	Agenda
	2 Inquiry into the future outlook for the media in Wales
	3a Media(4)-05-11 : Paper 2
	3b Media(4)-05-11 : Paper 3

